**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

The Wiccan Religious  
Cooperative of Florida, Inc.,

Appellant,

CASE NO.: SC05-873

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 1D03-3325

v.

Jim Zingale and the Florida  
Department of Revenue,

Appellees.

---

**AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

HEATHER MORCROFT  
Florida Bar No.0709859  
5278 Fayann St.  
Orlando, FL 32812  
Phone: 407-325-0585  
Fax: 407-843-9713  
Attorney for Appellant

##

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Petitioner is a non-profit Wiccan church, incorporated in the state of Florida, with federal 501(c)(3) status. The church originally sued based on the Department of Revenue's refusal to reissue the group a consumer sales tax exemption certificate pursuant to §212.08(7)(o)(2)(a) (1999) and the facial unconstitutionality of the sales tax exemption under *Fla. Stat. §212.06(9)*(1999). The issue ultimately before the appellate court became the constitutionality of the Florida sales tax exemption for religious publications and items of worship, pursuant both to *Fla. Stat. §212.06(9)* (1999) and to *Article 1, Section 3* of the Florida Constitution, which parallels the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. In the Florida constitutional provision, specific limitations are placed on the taxing and spending power of the state: “[n]o revenue of the state or any political subdivision or agency thereof shall ever be taken from the public treasury directly or indirectly in aid of any church, sect or religious denomination or in aid of any sectarian institution.”



The relevant history of this case is as follows: On May 6, 1993, the Florida Department of Revenue issued tax exemption certificate Number 58-12-130568-55C to the Wiccan Religious Cooperative of Florida, Inc. as a religious organization. R V.5, p. 785.<sup>1</sup> The certificate expired on May 6, 1998. R V.5, p. 785. On December 20, 1999, WRCF applied for a renewal of the tax exemption certificate as a religious institution under *Fla. Stat. §212.08(7)(o)(2)(a)* (1999). This application, which required the submission of proof of an established physical place of worship, was submitted directly to the then Executive Director, Larry Fuchs, along with documentation, and a letter from WRCF's counsel setting forth concerns about the substance of the statute and requesting legal opinions and advice. R V.5, p. 785.

In this letter, WRCF freely admitted that it had no established physical place of worship, and did not submit any documentation claiming that it did. On January 5, 2000, Tracy Allen, Assistant General Counsel for the

---

<sup>1</sup> R. V. 5, pp. 780-803 reflect the body of WRCF's Motion for Summary Judgment as filed in the trial court. V. 5 804-927 and V. 6 928-997 consist of the exhibits referred to in the motion and attached. Some of counsel's files were damaged, destroyed or lost during Hurricane Charley, and she no longer has a legible and properly organized copy of all the Exhibits. Therefore, in this brief she will refer to the page which contains the information, and the reference to that page should be read to include Exhibits that are identified in the Motion, although it includes the exact record and volume page of the Exhibit itself only where that specific cite was available. Counsel apologizes for this inconvenience.

Department, responded. R V.5, p. 786. Attorney Allen confirmed in this letter to WRCF's counsel that the DOR did require the applicant to have its own established physical place of worship, and that the Division of Administrative Hearings had upheld this requirement on several occasions. *See Appendix A* He suggested that if WRCF believed that it might qualify pursuant to another exemption, the church might want to supplement the application by mailing additional information to the Department. Finally, he briefly explained the Notice of Intent to Deny procedure, which indicated that if there was no follow up or no other basis for exemption, the Notice of Intent to Deny would be issued. R V.5, p. 786.

On January 14, 2000, the Department sent WRCF a request to “[p]rovide a notarized statement explaining that your organization is a governing or administrative office that functions to assist or regulate member organizations over which your organization has control.” The request stated, in bold, that “Your failure to submit the requested information will delay the processing of your application and ultimately result in its denial.” R V.5, p. 786. WRCF is not, and never has been “a governing or administrative office that functions to assist or regulate member organizations over which [the] organization has control.” All the church's members are individuals or families. R V.5, p. 786. As the WRCF

could not in all honesty provide the requested information, and the Department had indicated that failure to respond would result in a denial of the application, WRCF did not respond to the January 14, 2000 letter.<sup>2</sup>

On January 25, 2000, Kevin O'Donnell, Assistant General Counsel for the Department, responded to additional questions regarding the sale of personal property by religious institutions WRCF sent with its renewal application on December 20, 1999. He responded regarding the sale of personal property, including religious publications and items of worship, by churches as defined in applicable Florida Administrative Code provisions, and confirmed that such sales are exempt if the church qualifies as a religious institution pursuant to *Fla. Stat. 212.08(7)(o)(2)(a)*(1999). He declined to issue any opinion regarding what constituted a religious publication or item of worship. R V.5, p. 788-789. In fact, the Department specifically said, regarding the authority to determine the constitutionality of a statute, “[t]hat responsibility rests with the Judicial Branch of our Government. The Department of Revenue presumes the constitutionality of all laws it administers until a court of competent jurisdiction rules otherwise.” R V.5, p. 788-789.

---

<sup>2</sup> Furthermore, the law supported the Department’s position in the letter, and justified WRCF’s reliance on that letter. R V.5, p. 793-794.

On February 14, 2000, the Department sent another request for information identical to the request sent on January 14, 2000. R V.5, p. 787 Just as in the January 14, 2000 letter, the request stated, in bold, that “Your failure to submit the requested information will delay the processing of your application and ultimately result in its denial.” WRCF did not respond to the February 14, 2000 letter. On March 20, 2000, the Department sent WRCF a letter stating that the case had been closed because of failure to respond, and that the WRCF would need to reapply. R V.5, p. 787. The Department never issued a Notice of Intent to deny. R V.5, p. 787.

On June 6, 2001 the law was amended to include in *Fla. Stat. 212.08(7)(p)(2001)*, effective January 1, 2001, a provision that permitted, but did not require, any 501(c)(3) organization to apply for and obtain a consumer sales tax exemption for leases or purchases used in carrying on their customary nonprofit activities. 2000 Fl. ALS 228, at pp. 7 & 17-18, attached hereto as Appendix B. While the amendment did also make some minimal changes in *Fla. Stat. 212.08(7)(o)(2)(a)* (1999), it did not change the requirement that in order to qualify for a sales tax exemption as a religious institution, the organization must have an established physical place of worship.

On October 30, 2000, WRCF filed suit in the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit of Florida. R. – V. 1, pp. 1-10. On March 6, 2001, WRCF filed an amended complaint, R – V. 1, pp. 84-98 and on June 18, 2001, a second amended complaint R – V. 2, pp. 199-263. The Department filed its Answer on July 9, 2001. R. – V. 2, pp. 264-277. The parties each filed motions for summary judgment. R. – V. 5, pp. 780-927; V. 6, pp. 928-997; V. 6, pp. 1011-1027.

On July 15, 2003 the trial court granted the Department's motion for summary judgment and denied WRCF's motion. R. – V. 7, 1246-1250. In its order, the trial court held that 1) WRCF had failed to exhaust its administrative remedies regarding its application for a consumer sales tax exemption certificate; 2) had standing to raise the constitutional issue; 3) held that *Fla. Stat. § 212.06(9)(1999)* and *Fla. Stat. § 212.08(7)(o)(2)(a)* (1999) were facially constitutional; and 4) dismissed WRCF's case. R. – V. 7, 1248-49. On July 30, 2003, WRCF timely filed its Notice of Appeal. R. – V. 7, pp. 1251-1262.

The trial court held, without discussion, that the church did have standing to raise the issue. R – V. 7, p. 1249. It found that the *Fla. Stat. 212.06(9)(1999)* was constitutional under the Establishment Clause because it was broad and religion neutral. R – V. 7, p. 1249. The Court found that

both statutes were constitutional under the Equal Protection Clause because they did not discriminate amongst religions. R – V. 7, p. 1249. The trial court made no finding regarding the constitutionality or lack thereof of *Fla. Stat. §212.06(9)* (1999) under the Free Press Clause.

The church appealed the constitutional issue, and there was no cross appeal on standing. Both parties briefed and argued the issue of standing on appeal. The church argued that although it had suffered harm, it was a taxpayer, questioning the constitutionality of the statute based directly on the limitations of the taxing and spending power of the state<sup>3</sup>, under both state and federal constitutional law, and that therefore the church was not required to show special injury.<sup>4</sup> *Department of Admin. v. Horne*, 269 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1972); *Paul v. Blake*, 376 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); *Flast v. Cohen, Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare*, 392 U.S. 83; 88 S. Ct. 1942; 20 L. Ed. 2d 947 (U.S. S. Ct. 1968). The Department argued that special injury was required, and that since the statutory exemption benefits religious organizations, the church could show no adverse interest, and had no standing.

---

<sup>3</sup> Article I, §3 of the Florida Constitution, specifically cited in the church’s appellate brief and expressly made a part of the argument.

<sup>4</sup> WRCF did argue special injury, and Judge Benton wrote “The Cooperative proved that it suffered actual injury...” *WRCF v. Zingale*, 898 So. 2d 134, 140 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2005).

A three judge panel issued an opinion on March 8, 2005, all judges concurring that the trial court's decision should be reversed and remanded. However, a two judge majority held the basis for reversal and remand was the trial court's decision that the church had standing, and these judges did not reach the constitutional question. In his opinion concurring in part and dissenting in part, Judge Benton found that, under any theory, the church did have standing, that the statute was unconstitutional, and that the trial court's decision should be reversed on the constitutional issues. The church timely filed a motion for rehearing and certification, which was denied without opinion on April 14, 2005. The church then timely filed its Notice of Intent to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on May 16, 2005. This Court accepted jurisdiction on November 17, 2005.

### **Statement of the Facts**

WRCF is a Florida not-for-profit corporation, R. V. 2, p. 203, recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as a tax-exempt religious organization, under § 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. R. V. 2, p.203. The Department of Revenue is the Florida agency charged with administering the tax laws for the state of Florida. R. V. 5, p.1015. *Article 7, §1* of the Florida Constitution authorizes the taxing and spending power of the state, and provides that “[n]o tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law. *Art. 1, §3* of the Florida Constitution, which parallels the First

Amendment to the United States Constitution, places additional *specific* limitations upon that taxing and spending power, stating “No revenue of the state or any political subdivision or agency thereof shall ever be taken from the public treasury *directly or indirectly* in aid of any church, sect or religious denomination or in aid of any sectarian institution.” (emphasis added)

In August of 2001, WRCF, through its then Vice President and President Elect, purchased three books from Barnes and Noble, and ordered another. Pursuant to Title 10, Section 2 of the Bylaws, a copy of which was filed with the complaints in this action, Directors must meet all the requirements of membership, and the Vice President was a member. The books he purchased were a Christian children’s Bible, the Koran, and The Satanic Bible.<sup>5</sup> He also ordered The Witches Bible Compleat. R – V. 5, pp. 784-785. The bookstore charged, and WRCF paid, a sales tax on the Satanic Bible, and was advised it would be charged sales tax on the Witches Bible

---

<sup>5</sup> Wicca is not a Satanic religion. Wiccans do not even believe in Satan. *U.S. v. Phillips*, 38 MJ 641 (1993); *U.S. v. Phillips*, 42 MJ 341 (1995). See also Appellant’s Motion to Strike Reference Unsupported by the Record, filed in the DCA in February, 2004. The DCA granted this motion. This book was chosen for purchase because, like Wicca, courts have recognized Satanism as a religion. *Flanagan v. State*, 109 Nev. 50 (Nev. 1993); *Ramirez v. Coughlin*, 919 F. Supp. 617 (U.S.D.C., N.D.N.Y. 1996); *U.S. v. Meyers*, 906 F. Supp. 1494 (U.S.D.C. Wyo. 1995); *Howard v. U.S.*, 864 F. Supp. 1019 (U.S.D.C. Colo. 1994); *Commonwealth v. Chuck*, 227 Pa. Super. 612 (1974); *MacMahon v. State*, 1998 Tex. App. LEXIS 5029 (1998).



Compleat. No sales tax was collected on the Christian Bible or the Koran. R. V. 4, pp. 805-810. The differing sales tax collection practices were premised on *Fla. Stat. § 212.06(9)(2001)*, which, then and now, grants a sales and use tax exemption to religious publications and items of religious worship.

WRCF's Bylaws clearly state: "We are a nonprofit religious, charitable, scientific, literary, artistic and educational corporation, organized to practice the full spectrum of legal activities practiced by any church, including, but not limited to, worship services, clergy functions, counseling, mediation, and spiritual leadership." R. V.5, p. 892 The Bylaws further state that "[t]o accomplish the goals outlined in the Preamble, W.R.C.F. advocates and practices, as an integral part of our faith, many sciences, arts, and disciplines, both mainstream and alternative, within a nondogmatic, pluralistic context, in order to change ourselves and the world around us." R V. 5, p. 853 The Bylaws go on to specify that these practices include scholarly research, the study of comparative religions, liturgical arts, and other activities and practices that encompass a wide variety of religious literature and items of worship. R V.5, p. 853

At no time, despite at least one documented request in the record R V. 6, p. 948-950, has the Department ever pointed to **any** factual or legal

authority defining religious publications and/or items of worship, nor has it been willing to express an opinion as to the definitions. In fact, the Department admits that it does not have the legal authority to make these determinations. R – V. 5, pp. 788-789. The Department does admit that it recognizes certain items (bells, candles, incense and robes) used in Catholic worship ceremonies as religious items, but declines to recognize those same items as items used in Wiccan worship ceremonies, stating that it is “without sufficient knowledge to admit or deny as to Wiccan usage” but setting forth no statement that it had made a reasonable inquiry and that the information known or readily available to the Department was insufficient to enable that party to admit or deny the request as required by Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.370(a) (1972) as amended.<sup>6</sup> R V. 6, p. 962 The Department admits that it is making a content-based determination when it admits that “specific kinds, but not all, candles, bells, incense and robes are used by the Catholic church.” R V. 6, p. 962. The Department fails to indicate the basis for these types of distinctions.

Nowhere in the record has the Department articulated a secular purpose for *Fla. Stat. §212.06(9)*. The Department has not pointed to any

---

<sup>6</sup> The rule has not significantly changed since 1954, and an inadequate reason for admitting or denying is the equivalent of an admission. *Amendments to the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure*, 858 So. 2d 1013, 1025 (Fla. 2003)

legislative or policy statement, or legal opinion, articulating a secular purpose. Nor has the Department argued that the exemption does not advance religion. The Department's entire constitutional argument rests on the proposition that *Fla. Stat. §212.06(9)* does not on its face discriminate amongst religions which was not the ruling made by the trial court. WRCF did not appeal the Equal Protection ruling, so the Department's sole focus on that ruling is misplaced.

The trial court actually found that *Fla. Stat. §212.06(9)* did not violate the Establishment Clause because it was "broad and religion neutral." R V. 7, p. 1249 In a completely separate paragraph of the Order, the trial court found that there was no equal protection violation in the application of either *Fla. Stat. §212.06(9)* or *Fla. Stat. 212.08(7)(o)(2)(a)(1999)* because there was no evidence presented that the Department discriminated amongst religions. R V. 7, p. 1249<sup>7</sup> The court made no finding as to the application of the Free Press Clause to *Fla. Stat. §212.06(9)*.

---

<sup>7</sup> In its motion for summary judgment, WRCF argued that the equal protection claim was based, not on any allegations that the statute facially discriminated amongst religions, but rather that no other types of 501(c)(3) organizations are required by the statute to maintain a regular physical location for carrying out their purposes. R. – V. 5, 798-801 Thus, not only does this requirement discriminate between religious and non-religious charitable institutions, it can also be considered a burden on the free exercise of religion, by requiring religious groups that want special exemptions to lease or purchase property for a permanent location.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

### **3. WRCF has standing because it has suffered harm**

The District Court held that WRCF benefited from the sales tax exemption at issue and therefore had no standing. However, WRCF has proved that it does not benefit from the exemption for two reasons. **1(a)**. First, religious liberty is threatened when the state abuses its power and exceeds its constitutional limitations to pass laws that promote religion and/or require excessive state entanglement with religion. A threat to religious liberty is a threat to all religious organizations, and people of all faiths, and harms WRCF. This is true both under the Establishment Clause and under the Free Press Clause. **1(b)**. Second, WRCF presented uncontested evidence that it asked the Department to define the parameters of the statutory exemption, and the Department refused. WRCF then purchased several types of religious literature from a national bookseller, and was charged sales tax on some, but not all of those publications. WRCF refrained from, and continues to refrain from, selling items pursuant to the exemption for fear of civil penalties and criminal prosecution. *Fla. Stat. 212.15, 775.082 and 775.083* (2005). Finally, such an exemption forces WRCF to subsidize ideas and beliefs which it finds inimical, and directly opposed to its own beliefs.

**1(a) WRCF does not benefit from the exemption, as the exemption threatens religious liberty. A threat to religious liberty harms all religions while government neutrality towards religion benefits everyone.**

Religious liberty is threatened when the state abuses its power and exceeds its constitutional limitations to pass laws that promote religion and/or require excessive state entanglement with religion. A threat to religious liberty is a threat to all religious organizations, and people of all faiths and harms WRCF. In *Flast v. Cohen*, 392 U.S. 83 (1968), adopted by *Department of Administration v. Horne*, 269 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1972), and relied upon by the District Court in making its determination regarding standing, the United States Supreme Court said:

The concern of Madison and supporters was quite clearly that religious liberty ultimately would be the victim if government could employ its taxing and spending powers to aid one religion over another or to aid religion in general. *Flast* at 103-104

**1(b). WRCF purchased several religious publications and was charged sales tax on some, but not all, of the books, thus demonstrating specific harm**

In August of 2001, WRCF purchased three books, a Christian children's Bible, the Koran, and The Satanic Bible. WRCF also ordered The Witches Bible Compleat. The bookstore charged, and WRCF paid, a sales tax on the Satanic Bible, and was advised it would be charged sales tax on the Witches Bible Compleat. No sales tax was charged on the Christian

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