IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC05-873

On review of District Court of Appeal Case No. 1D03-3325

THE WICCAN RELIGIOUS COOPERATIVE OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Petitioner,

V.

JIM ZINGALE and THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondents.

AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA CATHOLIC, INC., AND FLORIDA BAPTIST WITNESS, INC., IN SUPPORT OF RESPONDENTS

KEVIN W. SHAUGHNESSY

Florida Bar No. 0473448

CAROLINE M. LANDT

Florida Bar No. 0091812

BAKER & HOSTETLER LLP

Post Office Box 112

Orlando, Florida 32802-0112

Phone: (407) 649-4000

Facsimile: (407) 841-0168

Counsel for The Florida Catholic, Inc., and

Florida Baptist Witness, Inc.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In an appeal rife with procedural flaws, the Petitioner asks this Court to take *de novo* review of constitutional issues not addressed by the District Court of Appeal. Amici Curiae respectfully suggest that this case should be dismissed due to lack of jurisdiction or due to the Petitioner's lack of standing. The Amici Curiae support in their entirety the procedural arguments raised by the Respondents.

If the Court should decide to reach the constitutional issue, the substantive issues raised by the Petitioner are similarly unavailing. This is not a new or novel constitutional issue warranting the Supreme Court's intervention. Indeed, "[t]here is no genuine nexus between tax exemptions and the establishment of religion." Walz v. Tax Commission, 397 U.S. 664, 675 (1970). The law is well-settled, and the Petitioner can rely only on a skewed reading of a plurality opinion in a case involving a non-analogous statutory scheme to foment an argument challenging

Section 212.06(9), Fla. Stat. (2005). In so doing, the Petitioner ignores a litary of cases supporting the statutory scheme adopted by the Florida Legislature.

Legislatures have the prerogative and discretion to adopt regulations or laws even if they result in some benefit for religions, provided that the benefit is consistent with a legitimate statutory scheme or purpose. *See Locke v. Davey*, 540 U.S. 712 (2004). A tax exemption created in the legislature's prerogative passes constitutional muster if it advances a state interest, does not promote one religion over another, and has a *de minimus* impact on non-beneficiaries. Section 212.06(9) easily meets this standard.

Congress and state legislatures have, throughout the history of this Country, passed laws benefiting religions in some respect. These laws have allowed for parochial school children to receive public busing, free text books, and other accommodations. In the area of tax exemptions, both before and after the adoption of the Bill of Rights, state legislatures, and ultimately the courts, have found it prudent to avoid entanglement of religion with the state taxation process by providing exemptions for religious properties, publications, and other religious-based activities. These tax exemptions, like Section 212.06(9), are usually contained among a litany of exemptions for activities the legislature, in its wisdom, deems beneficial to the state and local communities.

Section 212.06(9) also has a *de minimus* impact on the State's taxation scheme. The financial impact of the exemption is less than one percent of the ten billion dollars in exemptions in the statute, exemptions extended to, among 236 other categories, non-profit civic theatre tickets, environmental equipment, hospital physical fitness facilities, human organs, and the sale of state flags. Moreover, the legislature has chosen to exempt other non-religious publications that it similarly believes serve a state interest, such as certain newspapers, newsletter subscriptions, community newspapers, school books, and similar publications distributed or used by elementary and high schools, and publications for the Retired Educators Association. Under these circumstances, the exemption for religious publications does not place an undue burden on non-beneficiaries of the tax exemption. Section 212.06(9) certainly passes muster as a proper exercise of legislative discretion and is constitutional. Accordingly, the decision below should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a party has standing to bring an action is a question of law to be reviewed *de novo*. *See Execu-Tech Bus. Sys. v. New Oji Paper Co.*, 752 So. 2d 582 (Fla. 2000); *Alachua County v. Scharps*, 855 So. 2d 195, 198 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003).

Whether a statute is facially unconstitutional is a question of law, subject to de novo review. City of Miami v. McGrath, 824 So. 2d 143, 146 (Fla. 2002). A statute comes before the court clothed with a presumption of constitutionality,

Department of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc., 434 So. 2d 879, 881 (Fla. 1983), and all doubts as to constitutionality are to be resolved in favor of the statute. See State v. Yocum, 186 So. 448, 451 (Fla. 1939); see also Capital City Country Club v. Tucker, 613 So. 2d 448, 452 (Fla. 1993) (courts must interpret statutes in such a manner as to uphold their constitutionality if it is reasonably possible to do so); Knight and Wall Co. v. Bryant, 178 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1965) (an act will not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD NOT CONSIDER THE SUBSTANTIVE CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES RAISED BY PETITIONER BECAUSE FACTUAL AND LEGAL ISSUES WERE NOT FULLY DEVELOPED AND ADDRESSED IN THE LOWER COURTS.¹

The constitutional issue raised by Petitioner was not fully developed or addressed by the District Court of Appeal because it found Petitioner lacked

The Respondents' Brief adequately and persuasively addresses this Court's lack of jurisdiction and Petitioner's lack of standing. Amici Curiae adopt the position advanced by the Respondents. *See* Brief of Respondents at 6-18; *see also Pedroza v. State*, 906 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 2005); *Sutton v. State*, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S495 (Fla. 2005); and *May v. Holley*, 59 So. 2d 636, 639 (Fla. 1952) (Petitioner's failure to show an "immunity, power, privilege, or right" to be remedied by the requested declaration defeats standing). The arguments that follow are submitted because the Court might (but should not) seek to address the constitutional issues Petitioner attempts to raise in this appeal.

standing to raise the issue.² The Court should similarly dispose of Petitioner's claims on standing issues without having to reach the constitutional issues raised by Petitioner. If, however, this Court reverses the District Court of Appeal's holding as to standing, the constitutional issue should be remanded to the District Court of Appeal for consideration. Singletary v. State, 322 So. 2d 551, 552 (Fla. 1975); see also Metropolitan Dade County Transit Authority v. State Dep't of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles, 283 So. 2d 99, 101 (Fla. 1973) (when the case can be disposed of on a non-constitutional ground, constitutional questions may not be addressed). Sound jurisprudence principles and the orderly administration of justice warrant a remand in these circumstances. There is simply no reason, nor basis, for this Court to wade into this substantial constitutional issue without the benefit of a full record and full consideration below. Accordingly, if the Court were inclined to find that Petitioner has standing to challenge the statute's constitutionality, the case should be remanded with instructions to the District Court of Appeal to consider the trial court's decision holding Section 212.06(9) constitutional.

_

This brief addresses only Petitioner's claim that Section 212.06(9) violates the federal Constitution. Petitioner's newly-asserted claim that the statute violates the Florida Constitution was not raised below and may not be raised on appeal. See Florida Dep't. of Fin. Servs. v. Freeman, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 35 (Fla. Jan. 26, 2006) (citing Turner v. State, 888 So. 2d 73, 74 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004)); Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1970); Gautier v. Biscayne Shores Imp. Corp., 68 So. 2d 386, 390 (Fla. 1953).

II. SECTION 212.06(9) IS CONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE HAS BROAD DISCRETION IN DETERMINING ITS TAX BASE, AND EXEMPTIONS FOR RELIGIOUS ENTITIES IN AN OVERALL TAX POLICY SCHEME BENEFITING A VARIETY OF NON-PROFIT, RELIGIOUS, CHARITABLE, AND COMMUNITY SERVICE ENTITIES DOES NOT "ESTABLISH" RELIGION.

Constitutional jurisprudence strongly supports the State of Florida's decision to exempt certain publications, religious speech, and religious items from taxation given its permissible legislative power to define a tax base possibly benefiting or burdening a variety of end users engaged in a range of activities, including religious, deemed beneficial to the state and local communities. Such exemptions have a strong historical foundation, both on a federal and state basis, including a long history in Florida, further establishing their constitutionality. Indeed, the large number of exemptions existing at the time the First Amendment of the United States Constitution was adopted, and those enacted shortly thereafter, persuasively establish that these exemptions do not run afoul of the Constitution.

A. The history of tax exemptions for religious entities, both nationally and in Florida, demonstrates legislative restraint from entanglement with religion through taxation, not the establishment of a national or state religion.

"There is no genuine nexus between tax exemption and the establishment of religion." *Walz v. Tax Commission*, 397 U.S. 664, 675 (1970). The federal and Florida legislatures have historically exercised their legislative discretion to establish tax bases excluding the taxation of religious entities and religious speech.

Even so, not all religious activities or entities have been wholly excluded from taxation. Regardless of religion's exclusion or inclusion in a tax base, the legislature does not violate the prohibition on "establishment" of religion every time it uses its discretion to create a general tax scheme.

1. At the time of adoption of the Bill of Rights, and thereafter, state and federal legislatures chose to exempt religious entities and their real property from the tax base.

As Justice Holmes once said, "a page of history is worth a volume of logic." New York Trust Co. v. Eisner, 256 U.S. 345, 349 (1921) (Holmes, J.). This is particularly true in this constitutional analysis. At the time the Bill of Rights was passed, the states had pre-existing tax exemptions for places of worship that not only continued, but increased. Walz, 397 U.S. at 676-678. Although the federal legislature from its origin exempted religious entities and their real property from the national tax base, the effect has never been the establishment of religion. The 7th and 12th Congress enacted tax statutes exempting churches and the importation of religious articles. Id. at 677. By 1870, this practice had not diminished. Congress that year exempted all churches and church property (real and personal) in the District of Columbia from any and all "taxes or assessments, national, municipal, or county." Id. One-hundred years later, at the time of the Walz opinion, all 50 states provided tax exemptions for places of worship. *Id.* at 676.

In *Walz*, the Supreme Court considered a challenge to a New York statute granting a property tax exemption to religious organizations for properties used solely for religious worship. The Supreme Court found the exemption did not violate the Establishment Clause. *Id.* at 667. Recognizing federal and state legislatures' historical abstention from taxing religious entities, the Court observed, "[f]ew concepts are more deeply embedded in the fabric of our national life, beginning with pre-Revolutionary colonial times, than for the government to exercise at the very least this kind of benevolent neutrality toward churches and religious exercise generally so long as none was favored over others and none suffered interference." *Id.* at 676.

The *Walz* Court reasoned that legislatures may accommodate religious autonomy or separation from government interference without violation of the Constitution:

Grants of exemption historically reflect the concern of authors of constitutions and statutes as to the latent dangers inherent in the imposition of property taxes; exemption constitutes a reasonable and balanced attempt to guard against those dangers. The limits of permissible state accommodation to religion are by no means co-extensive with the noninterference mandated by the Free Exercise Clause. To equate the two would be to deny a national heritage with roots in the Revolution itself.

Id. at 673. This Court should not undermine that heritage by finding Section 212.06(9) unconstitutional.

2. The State of Florida historically abstained from including religious institutions and activities in its tax base.

The State of Florida has refrained from taxing religious entities and activities from its inception. The Constitution of Florida, adopted in 1885, excluded property used for religious purposes from taxation and continues to do so today. Art. IX, Section 1, Fla. Const. (1885); Art. VII, Section 3(a), Fla. Const. (2004).³ Florida historically had categories of taxation such as intangible personal property, excise tax on documents, license taxes, and tax assessments. In most of these categories, Florida chose to abstain from taxing religious entities.⁴ The inclusion of religious activities along with educational or charitable activities demonstrates Florida's recognition of the community benefit derived from these beneficent activities.

Similarly, Florida exempted most of the items contained within Section 212.06(9) since the establishment of its sales and use tax. Section 212.06(9) finds

³ Current Art. VII, Section 3(a) and original Art. IV, Section 1 of the Constitution of Florida similarly exclude from taxation property used for educational, literary, scientific, and charitable purposes.

Section 199.02(4) Fla. Stat. (1941) (exempting intangible personal property belonging to any religious, charitable, benevolent or educational association); Section 201.06 Fla. Stat. (1941) (reducing the Excise Tax on Documents involving voting proxies for religious, educational, charitable, fraternal, or literary societies etc.); Section 205.18 Fla. Stat. (1941) (excluding license requirements for "practicing the religious tenets of any church").

its origins in the "Florida Revenue Act of 1949." Section 212.01 (1949).⁵ The Florida Revenue Act of 1949 incorporated the "Tax on Sales, Use and Certain Transactions," and includes most of the exemptions in today's statutory scheme.⁶ See Section 212.06(9), Fla. Stat. (1949) (exempting "religious publications, hymn books, prayer books, vestments, altar paraphernalia, sacramental chalices and like church service and ceremonial raiments and equipment, to or by churches for use in their customary religious activities"). The statute was amended in 1951 resulting in the exact exemption challenged in this proceeding. Ch. 26871, Section 8, Laws of Fla. (1951). This long history of abstaining from involving religion in Florida's tax scheme illustrates the Florida Legislature's belief that there is a lack of a nexus between tax exemptions for religion and the establishment of religion. It also passes constitutional muster.

B. <u>Legislatures have the discretion to decide who or what is</u> regulated and within this discretion to relieve the burdens on religion through abstaining from taxing religious entities and their speech.

A defect in the title of Ch. 26319, Laws of Fla. (1949), relating to the legislation being beyond the scope of the title was cured by incorporating the 1949 Act, which included the Florida Revenue Act, into Ch. 26871, Laws of Fla. (1951).

The 1941 Florida Statutes and the 1947 Cumulative Supplement to Volume 1, Florida Statutes of 1941, do not include a general sales tax. Presumably, the 1949 "Tax on Sales, Use and Certain Transactions" contained the first general sales tax within the State of Florida.

Legislatures do not automatically show hostility to or establishment of religion every time they use their discretion to create a general tax scheme. That Florida may deal differently with religious publications and the publications of K-12 schools than with certain commercial publications hardly constitutes establishing religion. The concept of legislative discretion or a legislative prerogative was most recently recognized by the United States Supreme Court in *Locke v. Davey*, 540 U.S. 712, 721 (2004), when Chief Justice Rehnquist, writing for the majority, approved a legislature's discretion to include or exclude religion in broader public programs without making the programs "inherently constitutionally suspect."

The Supreme Court has historically recognized this legislative prerogative. In 1886, the Court reviewed a Congressional real estate tax scheme for Washington, D.C., exempting buildings devoted to art, to institutions of public charity, libraries, cemeteries, and "church buildings, and grounds actually occupied by such buildings." *Gibbons v. District of Columbia*, 116 U.S. 404, 406 (1886). The Court upheld both the Congressional grant of the tax exemption to church-owned property housing the church and the taxation of church-owned property adjacent to the church building. *Id.* By recognizing a legislature's ability to implement a tax scheme that may or may not exclude or include religious property, the Court in *Gibbons* set the precedent that continues today in decisions such as

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